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1" I H. S T

Copy No. I (II)

MBETING

6 January - 3-6.30 pm.

The meetihg began with the following statement by the Secretary­
General:

nAt the opening of our formal meetings I wish to renew our expres­
sions of appreciation for the generous hospitality which you have shown
us. 'fhis very morning we got a new example when we were taken around
the old palaces and collections of the Forbidden City, those admirable
memories from a great past, to be matched by a great future.

IlLet me also r.enew my expressions of satisfaction for this opportu­
nity to get in touch with you and, through you, with sane of the pro­
blems of a people great through its history, great in its resources
and great in the contribution that it may make to peace and prosperity.

"You well know the immediate reason for my initiative to get an
opportunity to meet you. The spirit in which I viewed the serious
problem that had arisen was made clear when in a special message to you
I indicated that I felt that talks between us at the present juncture
might be constructive. I read your reply to my suggestion as an indi­
cation of a similar attitude on your side.

liMy approach to the immediate problem, facing us, is that in the
interest of an easing of tensions the point of friction that has arisen
should be eliminated in such a way as to help us to save part of what
was achieved in Geneva and so as to give to this meeting of ours
lasting significance. I hope that we shall be able to look back at it
as a beginning and as a step forward and not just as another vain attempt
to move closer to normal conditions. Indeed if this attempt were to
fail, the failure might well throw us back into a state more worrying
than the one prevailing '...men I first approached you.
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lilt emerged from our discussion yesterday that you are willing to
begin our talks with a study of the question I have raised, in oreer
later to proceed to other pertinent questions where you would like to explain
to me your ~ u d e and your concerns. I consider that this order in
time betwe . ious questions is warranted not only for historical
and logical-reasons, but also because of differences as to the basis
on which I can discuss the problems. As you know I can study with
you the question of the prisoners on the basis of a special mandate
given to me by the General Assembly. In the other cases my partici-
pation in the discussion will have to be strictly limited to what
follows from my general position which means that I can only take
note of your observations and give you whatever general comments 1
may have to make in order to clarify the situation from my angle.

"At the risk of having to repeat part of the things I told you
yesterday night, I would like to start the presentation of my views
on the prisoner problem with a few words concerning the specific :bole
of the Secretary-Ueneral in this case, both as to the legal basis on
which I can act and as to my pur1lose in raising the issue.

"Under the Charter of the United Nations the Secretary-General is
entitled - and, being entitled, in my view obliged -- to take whatever
initiative he finds appropriate in order to get under control or re­
verse developments leading to serious tensions. His rights and ob­
ligations in this respect are not l ~ i t e d to Member Nations. They
are of world-wide application an!'EJ.ven him. when he was established
in his post not only by a majority of the General Assembly but by the
unanimous vote of the permanent members of the Security Council. ~ e n

he acts for the purpose indicated it is not, and can never be permitted
to be, on behalf of any one nation, group of nations or even majority
of Member Nations as registered by a vote in the General Assembly. He
acts under his constitutional responsibility for the general purposes
set out in the Charter, which must be considered of common and equal
significance to Members and Non-Members alike.

liThe constitutional position of the Secretary-General as I now
define it, is the basis on which I have approached you and on which
I have come here. Thus, sitting here at this conference table I do
so as Secretary-General, not as a representative of an Assembly majori­
ty or of any national or individual interests.. From what I have said
follows also that I cannot commit anybody or any nation, or the 0r­
ganization, to anything. I can solely engage myself and that only
within the limits set by the Charter.

"I have already reminded you of the fact that in the case of the
prisoners, the General Assembly has given me a special mandate.. Such
a mandate indicates a specific case to which the ~ e c r e t a r y - G e n e r a l ,
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in line with his general obligations, should devote attention. It
is obviously acceptable to and binding on the Secretary-General if
it is in keeping with the Charter. When I lAaU 8 QU8J3'iea 'bio!o ~ eelc
in tRis 88:89 ~ : w e f t '8 mo b, the BenoIst L'Juemel" it is[ because it
is obvious to me that it brings to the fore a case where I have both
a right and- ~a duty to act as Secretary-General.

liThe resolution of the General Assembly to which I have referred,
also contains a judgment on questions of substance, condeIlU1ing cer­
tain actions of your Government as contrary to the Korean Armistice
Agreement. I wish to stress with all emphasis that it is only the
Charter, as I have interpreted it here, and ~ this condemnation
that is the legal basis for my action. In my interpretation of the
mandate given to me in the same resolution, the judgment to which I
have referred does not bar me from forming my own independent judg­
ment of the questions of fact and law involved and to act in the light
of this independent and impartial appraisal. - You will undoubtedly
have noted that I have not communicated the resolution to you official­
ly for your infonnation o

liAs I proposed these talks and as I am here in fulfillment of the
general obligations of the Secretary-General;

as the mandate of the resolution merely specifies a case where
these obligations apply;

as the judgment on questions of substance and law contained in
the resolution is not the legal basis for my action;

as,thus, I,. in fulfilJJnent of my duty, have to form my own opi­
nion on the questions of substance and law;

as these questions of substance and law are highly relevant to
a realistic appraisal of the case as a political issue, I have, after
the end of the discussions of this question in the General Assembly,
together with my advisers made an independent study of the relevant
facts and rules of law. For this study which has been based on all
evidence that can be produced on the other side as well as on wl:1at you
have given publicity, I claim impartiality.

"Before presenting to you in summary the conclusions we have arrived
at, I feel that I should indicate briefly how I view the relations
between the legal and political aspects of the case.

"I am convinced that you are fully' aware of the very strong emo­
tional reaction in the Western world caused by the conviction of the
eleven Nembers of the Arnold crew who survived. 'l'his emotional reac-
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tion, which has cane to cover also the case of the four jet fliers
and drawn attention to other remaining prisoner problems, is in the
main explained by three circl..UIlstances. The first is the human intE?­
rests involved. The second is the feeling that what has happened
reflects a serious deterioration in relations which after Geneva seemed
to improve. 'lhe third circumstance is a widespread conviction that

-justice has. not been done.

"I hasten to _add that I realize that this case has equally given
rise to strong emotional reactions on your side: first of all the
natural reaction against what you consider as an indic':ltion of threat
against your security, but secondly because of your feeling that the
judgment passed by the General Assembly was not based on an impartial
study.

II In a situation like the one I have just described it is essential
to straighten out to all possible extent the differences which exist
between the views on facts and law held by the parties concerned. I
am in possession of important information which has not been available
to you and which indicates that you have had to work on the basis of
infonmation that is both incomplete and partly incorrect. In order to
enable you to evaluate the situation, I feel that I should give you
part of the story as it emerges from the material of which we are in
possession. It follows, t ~ ~ t , ~ 1 e n I present what I consider to be
the truth, this does not reflect any wish to engage with you in some
kind of law suit; indeed, we should in no way compete with the auto­
nomous procedure of the Chinese courts of law. Nor does it mean that
we for a moment have questioned or question your "sovereign right to
convict". It is e q u ~ l l y obvious that we have made our study, and that
I speak here, assuming that your courts have arrived at their conclu­
sions, basing themselves on their views of' the relevant facts and
rules of law.

"We are convinced that the eleven men of the crew camnanded by
Colonel Arnold were engaged in a United Nations operation in the Ko­
rean conflict -- because the basic facts of the case all appear to us
to point irresistibly to this conclusion. Briefly stated, these basic
facts are -

1) The B.29 aircraft concerned belonged to the Air-Resupply and
Communications wing of the 13th United States Air Force and this wing
had been placed to the fullest extent under the orders of the United
Nations Command for operations in the Korean Conflict.

2) The particular leaflet-dropping operation in question on
12 January 1953 was specifically ordered by the United Nations Command
for the support of United Nations combat operations in North-Korea.
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The orders issued for this operation designated in the most precise
terms the targets at which the aircraft was to direct its leaflets
and these targets were all without qu'estion within North Korea.

3) In addition to its special orders for the particular o p ~

ration on ~ 2 January 1953, which limited its targets to North Korea,
the aircraft was subject to a stringent general order issued by the
United Nations Command which categorically prohibited operations
beyond the Korea-Chinese border.

4) The members of t he crew of the B 29 aircraft were all in
the uniform of the air forces of the United States, one of the States
participating in the United Nations operations in Korea.

5) The particular operation in question, that of leaflet drop­
ping, is one which in itself is an entirely legitimate war operation
behind the enemy's lines, as was recognized by all the belligerents
in the second world war.

Pausing for a moment, I may observe that the five basic facts
which I have already mentioned fully entitled the crew of the B 29
aircraft to be regarded as United Nations military personnel captured
in lawful combat and to be treated as prisoners of war. This conclu­
sion is confirmed by other basic facts, to which I shall now refer.

6) Radar equipnent operated by forces of the United Nations
Command on 12 January 1953, registered the presence of the B 29 air­
craft in the vicinity of one of its designated targets in North Ko­
rea, namely Sonchon, and then an attack upon the aircraft by 12 en&­
my fighters.

7) Six minutes later, United Nations radio stations recorded
the receipt of a distress signal from the aircraft indicating that
it was out of control and was being abandoned.

8) On the 13 January and again on 16 January 1953 - at a time
when no one had thought to call in question the legitimacy of the
operation -- routine casualty reports were issued by the United Na,­
tions Command indicating the loss of the aircraft and crew in the
cause of the operation ordered by the United Nations Command and on
the route prescribed in the orders.

"These eight basic facts which I have now listed, are all comple­
tely aoncordant with each other and point, each one of them, to the
conclusion that the B 29 aircraft and its crew were lost on a United
Nations operation in the war in Korea. We have no definite knowledge
where the aircraft or the surviving eleven members of the crew in
fact landed on the ground. If, against our own view, they happened to
come down north of the Yalu River, then the basic facts make it certain
that they entered China's air-space and landed on Chinese territory
only under the gravest stress of force majeure.
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IIWe do not overlook the portable radio and other survival equip­
ment carried in the aircraft, the extensive nature of which seems to
have made a strong impression on the minds of the Chinese judges.
Indeed, we have looked into this aspect of the case very carefully
because we believe that it may have beena£' decisive importance in
leading the ~ h i n e s e court to convict the eleven men. We are, however,
ourselves entirely. satisfied that there is nothing in the equipnent
carried by the aircraft which is inconsistent with the conclusion to
which the other basic facts of the case so strongly point. The equip­
ment carried by the B 29 aircraft, as I have myself ascertained by
personal and thorough examination, was the standard survival equipment
carried by all United States aircraft comparable in size to the B 29.
This equipment is designed to enable the men of a crashed aircraft
both to communicate with their base and to survive as long as may be
necessary to enable them to be rescued or to effect their own escape
to triendly territory. I think that the Chinese judges may have been
misled by the elaborate and extensive nature of United States survival
equipment which is on a considerably more lavish scale than that found
on the aircraft of most countries. But, in the light of what I myself
know of United States equipnent, I find the equipment carried by the
B 29 aircraft in the present case fully consistent with the other
basic facts and with the conclusion that the aircraft was engaged on
a lawful military operation of the United Nations Command in the Ko­
rean conflict.

"None of the other facts, the design of the aircraft, the profes­
sional skills of the crew or anything else, contradicts the basic
facts or compels the inference that on the operation in question the
eleven men had any other task than the leaflet dropping on North Ko­
rean towns prescribed in their orders. I may say, however, that even
if their tasks - contrary to what clearly appears in the evidence ­
had in fact included reconnaissance, that could not be held to be a
crime. The distinction between military reconnaissance and espionage
is recognized by all authorities on international law and, notably,
by Soviet writers, for example by Professor Korovin in his short course
on International law and by the Academy of the Sciences of the USSR
in its treatise published in 1951.

liAs to the four jet fighter pilots the basic facts are no less
conclusive that they were captured when engaged on United Nations ope­
rations in the Korean conflict. All the fighter aircraft were units
of formations which had been placed under the orders of the United Na­
tions command for operations in Korea and were based on airfields in
Korea. All of them on the occasion when they were lost had particular
tasks in support of the United Nations operations in Korea. All of
them operated lUlder the stringent order which I have mentioned prohi­
biting operations beyond the Korean-Chinese border. All are definitely
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known to have been attacked over Korea and one of them was actually
seen by his comrades to land in Korea. One is believed to have
fallen in VlaIlchuria but if he did so, it was undoubtedly because his
instruments had been destroyed and the deviation was therefore due
to force majeure. Routine casualty reports were issued in each
case by the -Ynited Nations Command soon after the loss of the parti­
cular ~ i r c r a l ' t . We are fully convinced of the accuracy of these
basic facts which entitle the four ainnen concerned like the eleven
men of the .B 29 aircraft, to be regarded as United Nations military
personnel captured in lawful combat and to be treated as prisoners
of war.

"After this presentation of the situation as it appears to us,
it may be that you wish to elaborate the basis for your attitude
beyond what has been made known to us through published documents.
If so, we will listen with attention, reserving our right to object
where we feel that this is called for in the light of ~ knowledge
of facts and .Q£!: view of what is the relevant law.

"Before concluding, let me repeat that in presenting to you our
conclusions I have neither wished to engage in a legal debate nor
question the sovereign right of the courts, but that I have been ani­
:mated b;)r my conviction that these conclusions are highly relevant
as part of the naterial on which you may wish to t:x'lse your final po­
litical evaluation of the case, as well as your possible decision
to release the men - for example on the basis of their good beha­
viour during t1"!0 years of imprisorunent, in line with statements from
your side in (jeneVF, concern:'J'i; a traditional Chinese policy, .2!:
on the basis of such more general considerations as were also mentioned
in Geneva as a possible ground for release in the light of political
developments. It is obvious taat if the case is straightened outT
our conclusions as to the facts and the law as I have presented them
to you here, will be just a brick disappearing in the foundation we
have managed to build together -- just as, in the opposite case, the
smne conclusions will come to lie there as part of the ruins of our
efforts, unavoidably visible to all.

II"When the Secretary-General of the United Nations has engaged him­
self and his office, with all the weight it carries in world opinion,
for the fate of the prisoners -- and although I refer primarily to
the eleven plus four, I have also all the others in mind -- it does
not mean that I appeal to you or that I ask you for their release.
It means that - inspired also by my faith in your wisdom and in
your wish to promote peace -- I have considered it my duty as force­
fully as I can, and with deep conviction, to draw your attention to
the vital importance of their fate to the cause of peace. I could
have based my approach to you on the fact that the General Assembly
has asked me to seek their release. I have not done so. I could
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have acted as spokesman of the Organization for which, and under the
orders of which, the prisoners served. That -- a l t h o ~ ~ h justified -­
would have made me a representative of a party to the conflict. My
position is stronger than that. I could have raised the issue on the
basis of the conviction, arrived at by myself and my colleagues,
that the fliers are innocent of the crimes for which they have been
convicted. However, I go further: I have engaged myself for these men
because their fate' may well decide the direction in which we will all

.be moving in the near future -- towards peace, or away from peace. The
immediate issue as I see it, is this: will what was brought closer
in Geneva be permitted to slip out of our grip, and -- what is of even
more direct concern to us at this table today -- will what precariously
has been established by the mere fact that I have come here, again be
lost and for how long a time?

"You may feel that I exaggerate: how can the fate of these men
be of such significance? However, I know that I am not exaggerating.
This case is one of those which history suddenly lifts up to key sig­
nificance -- as is evidenced by the sheer fact that, against all odds,
it has brought me around the world in order to put before you, in
great frankness and trusting that we see eye to eye on the desperate
need to avoid adding to existing frictions, my deep concern both as
Secretary-General and as a man. lI

After extending a welcane to l'fr. Hanunarskjold "personally, and as
Secretary-General", Mr. Chou En-lai then s aid that he noted that the
Secretary-General engaged in these talks rather under his Charter ob­
ligations than on any other basis. He hoped that the discussion would
cover "pertinent questions ll (among which obviously was included the
question of the fliers) which properly could be disdussed in such a con­
text. As the Secretary-General had empressed the wish that the flier
issue should be discussed first, this, of course, would be done.

Mr. Chou En-lai wanted some clarifications. First of all, was it
correct that the Secretary-General did not intend to put the Chinese
Government and himself on opposite sides as two parties in a law suit?
He understood that that was so. Another clarification he sought was
whether it was not obvious that whatever the outcome of our discussions,
neither one would be committed; he assumed it was because on the one
side there was the Secretary-General of the United Nations talking with
a country which was not a member of the United Nations and thus could
not be bound in relation to the Secretary-General, and on the other side
China, which obviously had no right to ask the Secretary-General to agree
to any special steps, for example for relaxation of tension.

Mr. Chou m-lai hoped that the discussions would lead to a certain
understanding on the prisoner-of-war question and of an appraisal of the
problems in other cases.
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As to the prisoner question the Chinese Government would not
refuse to discuss it. However, that could be done only if it was
understood that the General assembly resolution not only lacked
binding force for China, but was "totally unacceptable" to the
Cninese Government. It should also be recognized that the juris­
diction of' the Cninese courts was a dOJIEBtic affair in which no in­
terference could be tolerated.

In reply the Secretary-General said that, of the two premises
J ,_._ indicated, the first seemed to be contradicted by the fact that

04.1. <""' ....,·144 4:t;ae i'!:linese Goverrment had engaged in discussions with the ::>ecretary­
General who was under a mandate given in the very resolution to which
reference had been made. On the other point the Secretary-General
acbnitted, that the jurisdiction of courts was an internal affair; that
admission had, however, to be qualified as courts obviously could be
in a position in which they had to apply international law -- which
laid their conclusions open to international discussion.

Mr. Chou En-Iai reFlied on the first point that if the discussion
meant that he in any way recognized the General Assembly resolution,
it could not continue. On the second point he wanted to state that
international law did not apply in the prisoner case as the prisoners
were caught as spies inside China and not as prisoners of war o

The Secretary-General said thbt he felt that in the light of the
discussion the legal question raised by the resolution could be solved
this way. Mr. Chou Eh-lai would recognize that the relations· between
the General Assembly and the ;;>ecretary-General -- in this case speci­
fied in the resolution -- were outside the field where Mr. Chou lih-lai
had any right to speak. The Secretary-General, on the other hand,
could recognize that discussion with the Secretary-General did not
imply acceptance of any part of the General Assembly resolution by the
Chinese Government. Mr. Chou I!h-lai agreed to this formula.

On the second point the Secretary-General pointed out that Mr o

Chou En-lai was, prematurely, making an assumption which had yet to be
discussed between h ~ and the Secretary-General. He had said that there
was no international limitation to the sovereignty of the Chinese courts
as th e prisoners were not "prisoners of war". As, however, the Secretary­
General intended to give his reasons why they had prisoner of war status,
it was obvious that he considered that international law did apply. The
question whether or not jurisdiction of the Chinese courts was restricted
in the way indicated, could, thus, not be answered before a result of the
study of the prisoner case had emerged.
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Mr. Chou En-lai said that when he had said he was willing to discuss
the prisoner case "and everything relating to it" he had in mind also
Fecteau and ~ e y , "Whom the United dtates .had not mentioned and to whom
no reference h&.d been made in the resolution. Why were the two left out?

In reply the Jecretary-General pointed out that as the two were
not under the United Nations Conunand, there was no reason for the Uni­
ted Nations to mention them.

Mr. Chou Eh-lai said that he could not imagine that the Secretary­
General considered himself in this case representing the United Nations
Conunand. He had understood that the Secretary-General did not take
the position of a representative of a party to the conflict.

- The Secretary-General replied that he approached the whole prisoner
issue not as a party representative but as somebody under an obligation
to try and find solutions to questions causing international tension
whatever the specific United Nations "party interest" may be in the
question.

Mr. Chou E n - ~ & i said that he wanted to revert to the questions of
law the next day. There were a great munber of differences - he en d
the Secretary-General were not even using the same language. For that
reason }vIr. Chou f u ~ did not believe that they would be able to find
a solution or a cammon view without approaching the matter from the
angle of general political questions.

In reply the Secretary-General .aid that he did not believe it
was a question of a difference in language but rather a question of
differences as to facts on which judgments were based.Jf' He had already
stated that he was willing to let the discussion extend to the general.
political problems but he must insist that the prisoner question should
be given priority.

At the end of the meeting an understanding we,s reached as to the
publicity to be given to the meetings: it was decided that agreed texts
should be pUblished simultaneously in Peking and New York.

Wilson Center Digital Archive Original Scan



SEC 0 N D

- 11-

M E E TIN G

7 January 1955 - 3 - 6.45 pm

Mr. Chou ~ - l a i began by saying that he had carefully studied
the statement made by the Secretary-General the previous day. Before
giving his replies to the written statement, he wanted to extend a
cordial welcome to the Secretary-General to discuss questions rele­
vant to peace and relaxation of international tension. He also wel­
comed Mr. Hammarskjold in his capacity as Secretary-General of the
United Nations to discuss matters relating to the United Nations.

He then pointed out that, as had already been stated the previous
day, neither he nor the Secretary-LTeneral would be committed by these
talks. He hoped, however, that through contacts and frank eXchange
of views if would be possible to reach some common point of view
leading to continued contacts in t he interest of peace. He wanted to
make it clear that every step taken by his goverrnnent was towards
peace and not away from peace.

With regard to what he called the American spy cases the Chinese
stand was the following:

As stated in his cable of 17 December to the Secretary-General
for distribution to the delegations, it was entirely a matter for
the Chinese Goverrment to convict those caught in China, and the
United Nations, under its Charter, had no rights in this respect. The
resolution adopted by the General Assembly on the spy cases was wholly
unacceptable both as to form and content. The Chinese Government
was firmly against the resolution. This did not, however, imply that
the Chinese Goverrnnent would not discuss questions with regard to the
American spy cases. On the contrary, in order to expose the attempt
of the United States to cover up ulterior motives, the Chinese Govern-
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ment deemed it necessary to state the main facts relating to these
cases and thus help to remove some of the Secretary-General's mis­
understandings.

r

with regard to the legal side, the Secretary-General had stated
that he recognized the right of Chinese courts to convict the J1meri­
can spies. The logical conclusion of this was that the United Na­
tions resolution interfered in domestic Chinese affairs in violation
of Article 2:7 of the Charter. The Secretary-General had further
said that he was in possession of important material that the
Chinese Government did not have. 1-1r. Chou En-lai had studied the
eight points in the Secretary-General's statement but had failed to
see anything in them other than what had already been stated by the
United States representative in the United Nations. 1he conclusion
was that the purpose of' the UN resolution as of the US Delegation was
to cover up the facts of intrusion and espionage. Mr. Chou En-lai
therefore found it necessary to point out that it was not the Chinese
Government that based its case on incorrect material. He would like
briefly to state the following basic facts:

1) The humber of persons involved in the "two spy cases was
thirteen, not eleven, and there were certain intrinsic elements
linking the two cases to each other. The duties which the persons
involved had carried out, were United States Central Intelligence
Agency espionage duties, not combat duties of the United Nations
Command.

Downey and Fecteau were shot down on 29 November 1952, when
sneaking into Antung Province in an attempt to pick up a special
agent by the name of 1 These two American spies as well as
the agent had been dispatched by the Central Intelligence Agency. In
the case of the eleven, Arnold and the Wing that he was conunancting,
were working for the Central Intelligence Agency. Arnold and his
group were shot down on 12 January 1953 by a Chinese Air-Defence
unit when they were sneaking into Antung Province.

2) Hath Arnold's and l J o ~ e y l s aircraft had intruded into
China's air territory. Members of Ch:irese armed forces and inhabi­
tants of the area had witnessed this and remains of the aircraft were
still in the area. It was obvious that the two aircraft had intruded
into China for espionage purposes and that they were not taking part
in any United Nations operation. Nor did they, as had been asserted,
land on Chinese territory because they were in serious distress amoun­
ting to fore e maj eure.
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3) The Chinese Government was in possession of material evi­
dence to prove that the two aircraft had entered China for the pur­
pose of espionage operations. In Downey's aircraft there was a
pick-up unit. Before this aircraft was shot down, a rope, made in
the United States, had been put out in order to pick up agent L. •
Arnold's plape was equipped with a U.R.C. 4 type portable transmitter
and r e c e i v e ~ for use on land of exactly the same type as radio sets
captured from agents.

4) Downey's aircraft was sent by the espionage organization
of the Central Intelligence Agency in Japan to Seoul in Korea and
then further into Chinese air territory. Arnold's aircraft took off
from Yokota, passed over Korea and flew into Chinese air territory.

According to incomplete statistics 32.595 such sorties and in­
trusions had been made. 230 agents and 96 radio sets had been para­
chuted into Chinese t e r ~ i t o r y by the United States in cooperation with
Chiang Kai-shek. Among the many types of aircraft carrying out these
parachuting operations, were sane C 47s like Downey's aircraft and B
29s as used by Arnold.

5) The persons involved in the two spy cases were all in US
military uniform. The fact that they wore US milit~y uniform could not
be said to be evidence of their belonging to the United Nations' forces.
They had, on the contrary, been taking advantage of the Korean war for
the purpose of intruding into China o In fact, since the United States
and the People r s Republic of China were not in a state of war, the
question of prisoners of war did not arise in the cases of the spies,
nor did international law apply.

The five basic facts all pointed to conclusions that could not be
changed, namely that the two spy cases only presented two examples of
many United dtates espionage activities in China.

Mr. Chou Eh-lai went on to say that now that the Secretary-General
had received this information about the intrusions into Chinese air ter­
ritory, he would be able to realize the scope of the United States acti­
vities in seeking to overthrow the new regime in China. These activities
had called for protests by the Chinese Government. Protests had also
been made, for instance in the Arnold case, by the Chinese Foreign Hi­
nister in January 1953. In fulfilling their duty to safeguard Chinese
sovereign rights, the Chinese courts had had to pass careful judgments
in the cases of Arnold and Downey. It was in conformity with the prin­
ciples and purposes of the United Nations to safeguard one's sovereign
rights which is exactly what had been done in conVicting these American
spieso

As to the United States assertions that the Americans were carrying
out leaflet operations, such assertions were made only to cover up the
United States' espionage activities in China. So much for the legal
side of the question.
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The convictions were logical developments of what had happened
at and after the Geneva Conference.

During the Geneva Conference representatives of China and the
United States made contacts tor the purpose of discussing the question
of nationals on both sides, including those who had committed offences.
These contacts were, to begin with, between representatives of the two
delegations ~ d were later continued by the two countries' Consuls
General in Geneva•. At that time the US side handed over a list in-
cluding several categories of United States nationals in China namely
first, civilians who had applied for, but not received exit permits;
second, sentenced and detained persons and third, United States military
personnel o After some investigation replies were given to the American
side on the basis of the lists received. In the Chinese reply it was
stated that some of the persons on the lists were in China, whereas some
were not and had never been sentenced or detained. After having received
this information the United States presented a revised list containing
66 names which corresponded to names on the Chinese list. Among the 66
were the eleven plus the four intruding airmen and other airmen who served
under Chiang Kai-shek. Downey and Fecteau were, however, not included in
any of the two lists received from the US. On neither of the two occasions
when the Americans handed the lists, did they raise the question of
prisoners of war in Korea, or in any way link their lists with prisoners
of war in Korea.

At the time of these contacts with the United States the Chinese
side replied that the Chinese Government was friendly to those Americans
who were residing in China. The reply further stated that the Chinese
Government was giving protection to those United States nationals who
were abiding by Chinese laws, but that those US nationals who were guilty
of offences, had to be sentenced. It was further pointed out that exit
permits would be granted as soon as possible after completion of necessary
investigations to all those who wanted to return to the United States.
The sentences of those who had committed offences were generally lenient
depending on the facts in each case and on whether the persons core erned

had admitted their guilt. The Chinese also told the United States that if
the behaviour of those who Bre sentenced is good, a reduction of sentence
or even release before the expiration of the prison term could be con­
sidered. The Chinese h9.d told the United States' representatives in
Geneva that this was the policy of the Chinese Government, "which" Mr.
Chou :&1-lai added, "we are following and will follow in the future".

At the time of the Geneva Conference there were among the 66 many
who had been detained. It had been made clear to the Americans that
these cases would be reviewed in order to find out whether the persons
cone erned were gullty. If found guilty, they would be convicted o The
United States' representatives had expressed their satisfaction with
the Chinese reply and raised no objections. The United States' repre­
sentatives had not mentioned any prisoners of war, but had indicated
that some of the persons were military personnel.
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After the Geneva Conference the Chinese Goverrunent started to deal
with the question of the Americans in China in line with what had been
said during the meetings in Geneva. For instance a number of American
nationals who had applied for exit permits, were given exit permits as
soon as possible. Others had upon investigation been found to have
committed no other offence than to intrude into Chinese territory.
These, among whom was Dixon, had been reported. After the Geneva Con­
ference 14 Americans had applied for and been granted exit permits.
The four jet pilots were still tmder investigation and hat! pot yet been
sentenced. There was no doubt that they had been guilty of intrusion, but
evidence had yet to be found of other offences and they had therefore
not been convicted, which went to show that the Chinese Government deals
with these cases in a serious way. It was in the course of dealing with
the American nationals along the lines indicated in Geneva that Arnold
and Downey had been convicted. l'hese instances were merely two of those
discussed, and, thus, not isolated cases.

At the dinner the other day the Secretary-General had asked why
the ccnviction had occurred at this juncture. The explanation was that
the Chinese Government had been dealing continously after Geneva with
all cases of American nationals in the spirit of the Geneva Conference.

~ H e r e the Secretary-General interrupted to say that he had not asked
why the convictions had been made at this juncture. He had simply as
a reply to a statement by Mr. Chou En-Iai to the effect that the reac­
tion against the convictions in USA was organized in order to draw atten­
tion from the Formosa treaty, pointed out that the t:iming had not been
decided by the US side1)

from all that he had said, !vir. Chou l!;n-Iai continued, it woWhd be
clear that in dealing with the cases of the American nationaas, the
Chinese Government wanted to settle the questions raised by the United
States in line with what had been said at Geneva and did not wish to
increase tension. The Chinese Government was able to provide further
proof in support of this attitude. Downey and Fecteau were not included
in the US lists; their conviction had nevertheless been made public.
They had dropped two agents (on previous missions) and were picking up
one. Despite these serious offences they had not been sentenced to
death. This meant that one day they would be released and go hame.
The US had not dared to mention them in Geneva and, therefore, Downey's
and Fecteau's conviction could have been kept secret. However, China
has dealt with these C'1.ses too in "its just and lenient way".
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On the other hand, the Chinese Government had noted that the
United States had not said a word about the 14 American nationals
who had been given exit permits, nor about the three Americans who had been
deported. Instead, the United States had made use of and cre,,:,-ted an
uproar in the cases of t he captured airmen. This was how the United
States was ac-~ing. .

It was hoped that what had now been said would have the Secretary­
General's attention as he should note all the facts and not only parts
thereof.

~ 1 r o Chou Fn-lai went on to say that he would also like in this
~ e x i o n to tell the Secretary-General about same questions that the
Chinese had raised with the US representatives at Geneva. The Chinese
had protested against the detention of Chinese students and other
nationals in the United States. The US representatives had replied
by stating that the existing law prevented the return of these persons
now. It was obvious that in these cases justice had not been done since
their detention was illegal as was recognized even by some American public
opinion.

As to the number of Chinese student s in the United States, this
exceeded five thousand. According to incomplete statistics 356 of these
had asked to return to their fatherland and join their families. If
reference was made to human interest, here was a case of innocent people
who were detained. During and after the Geneva Conference the Chinese
had been i n f o ~ e d by the Americans that a total of 27 of these 8hinese
nationals had obtained permission to return. However, 50 far only ten
had done so.

Mr. Chou En-lai agreed thatthere was a human aspect to be considered
in the case of those sentenced in China. The same concern should be shown
in case of the Chinese students since their families were also anxious
for them to return. In fact, even greater attention ought to be paid
to the several thousand Chinese students who had been prevented to return,
as they were completely innocent and had not been convicted of any
offence. ¥ ~ . Chou En-lai wanted to call the Secretary-GeneralIs attention
to the plight of the Chinese IB tionals, especially the stUdents, since
it was his understanding that these students had addressed letters to
the Secretary-General. He also wanted to point out that his only inten­
tion in mentioning these Chinese nationals was to show the situation fram
both sides in order to enable the Secretary-General to make a fair com­
parison. The mention of these nationals in no way implied that an ex­
change could be made as had been suggested especially in the American
press, since there was no way of exchanging innocent against sentenced
persons. This would not be the way of "settling questions gradually"
between the United States ana China, which is what he desired to do.
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Mr. Chou E'n-lai now came to the second part of his statement which,
he said, would be related to the political questions and not be directly
linked to the spy cases. As this part of his statement had to do with
the United Nations, he deemed it particularly important to bring up
these matters with the Secretary-General.

He wouldfbegin by saying that the Chinese Goverrunent supported the
purposes and principles of the United Nations Charter. However,
ever sinde the Chinese people had driven out Chiang Kai-shek from China,
the United Nations had adopted an unjust attitude towards China as
was evidenced in many ways.

First of all, delegates representing the reactionary rule of
Chiang Kai-shek, a rule forsaken by the Chinese people were still in,
the United Nations while a government representing six hundred million
people was deprived of a seat at the United Nations in graven violation
of the Charter. A handful was recognized while a people representing
1/4 of the world was left out. '!'his was a continued injustice. This,
however, he realized was a situation which could not be remedied for
some time yet.

In int ernational agreements, such as the surrender documents of
the Second World War and the Cairo Declaration, it had been stated that
Taiwan should be restored to China. Former president Truman had officially
stated that no interference in Taiwan should take place, and similar
statements had been made by the British Government. But when the Korean
war was unleashed, Taiwan was cut off from the mainland. Since then the
United Nations had been completely silent which meant that the United
Nations agreed with the United States aggressive activities.

After the outbreak of the Korean war and even after the United
States aggression in Taiwan, the Chinese Government had asked for a
peaceful settlement of the Korean warj but the United States had paid
no heed to this and had proceeded across the 38th parallel towards the
Yalu River. This gave the Chinese Goverrunent no choice but to take
action "in self-defencel!. At this time the United Nations broke its
silence and declared China to be an aggressor. By this action the
United Nations became an instrument of the United States which dominates
the majority in the United Nations. This was intolerable to the Chinese
people.

Despite all this the Chinese Government, when the US forces had been
driven back to the 38th parallel and Mr. Malik had suggested peaceful ne­
gotiations, readily agreed to enter into armistice negotiations, but the
United States obstructed these talks. In the interest of peace the
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Chinese had practically agreed to the armistice when Syngman Rhee
forcefully detained 27.000.prisoners. After the armistice the United
States again violated the repatriation agreement of which the NNRC under
General Timaya was in charge, by sending back 14.000 without giving
them any option. 'Ibis was in violation of the Armistice Agre:..ent.
At that time, the United Nations did not act. But now it had cllosen
to act. There was a difference in the two cases, not only of quantity
but also of quality. It was therefore natural that the peoples of the
world who respected justice, had expressed dissatisfaction with the
recent UN resolution.

With reference to what the Secretary-General had said yesterday
to the effect that the case of the convicted men had given rise to
strong emotional reactions also in China,it was true that the
Chinese people were indignant because of this evidence of subversive
actions. But they reacted even more strongly when they learnt that
the United Nations instead of condemning the breech of the Armistice
Agreement had condemned China for the conviction of persons who
were not prisoners of war. Right and wrong had been reversed. Not
only did the Chinese people react emotionally but they refused to
consider the case of the 14.000 as closed and felt that the United
Nations should have to give account for them.

After the Korean armistice, the Geneva Conference provided another
instruct.ive commentary on the present situation. In this connexion Mr.
Chou En-lai particularly referred to the impossibility of reaching any
agreement on Korea. During the ninth session of the Gmeral Assembly
the general desire to reach a settlement had not been met by the UN
members particlipating in the Korean war. The resolution submitted by
India had had to be withdrawn - which showed the dominating influence
of the United States in the General Assembly. The termination of the
war in Indochina had been realized against the will of the United States.
Hence the United States had immediately afterwards worked out the ­
~~ila treaty in order to create splits in Asia. As a matter of fact
the agreement oh the Indochina question should have led the parties
to accept mutual guarantees and collective security. Mr • .l:!Qen had
suggested a Locarno pact for Asia -- but in view of the American oppo­
sition, the United Kingdom had instead followed the United States
line. What the United States was doing in South Vietnam was against the
Indochina agreement (llno military m a t ~ r i a l etc. II ).

Since the end of hostilities in Korea and Indochina, the United
States had concentrated its efforts to assist and support Chiang Kai-shek
in his IIwar of harassment ll against the coast of the Chinese mainland.
The United States had also engaged in disrupting nagivation and
Chinese as well as british ships had been seized. In order to legalize
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the occupation of Taiwan, the United States had concluded a treaty
with the Chiang Kai-shek Government which also seemed designed to
enable the United States to continue its aggressiono The activities
of the United States towards making a treaty with Taiwan had been
stepped up after the agreement in Geneva. After the Manila treaty
and the Paris agreements the US-Chiang treaty was made pUblic on
2 December 1954. This was the most serious international act since
world War II, because, by its means a nation through a treaty, had
occuped another nation in violation of international agreements and
the United Nations Charter. The nation which had done this was a
Charter member of the United Nations.

In order to cover up its serious acts of aggression, the United
States had made use of the spy cases and had created an uproar in
the United States and the United Nations. The purpose of this had
been to draw world public opinion away from the aggressive intentions
of the United States. The United Nations had " t i m i d l ~ followed.'" I y ! . ~ "
It was surprising that the United Nations had not paid heed to the
protests made by the Chinese Government and others. By adopting the
resolution, the United Nations majority had lent itself to be used as
the tools of United States aggression.

Some people had interpreted the Utl-(;hiang Treaty as having the
effect of restraining the activities of Chiang. This idea was absurd
as the treaty meant the same as if a family were asked to recognize
the right of a robber to occupy part of their house in order to r e­
strain a temporary caretaker. The next step would be to try and re­
store the caretaker as owner of the house.

Another view that had been held was that the United States' action
would have the effect of pr'eventing any extension of the war and to
ease instead of increase tension. However, if there had been no
United jtates occupation of Formosa and no US navy in the straits,
Taiwan would long ago have been liberated. The present aggressive
activitie s were bound to lead to a steady increase of the risk of ex­
tending the war. On the other hand if the US forces were to withdraw
from Taiwan and the Taiwan Straits and the Chinese people were to be
permitted to liberate Taiwan, no matter in what way, this would lead
to a relroration of tension in the Far East. The Chinese Government
could not agree that the liberation of Taiwan would have the effect of
increasing tension, nor subscribe to the idea that the United States-Chiang
treaty was leading to relaxation.
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What the Chinese Govermnent was doing in the Far East was to
promote peaceful coexistence, which could be enjoyed by any country as
long as it was animated by the same desire, and irrespective of its

" social system".

It was trhe hope of the Chinese Government that the Secretary­

General, after having heard its statements, would consider whether
it would be possibie to persuade the American friends to further
peaceful coexistence which could be done by withdrawing their forces from
Taiwan and the Taiwan ~ t r a i t s . This would be the greatest contribution

to peace in the Far East and to world peace.

Some people harboured the idea of neutralizing Taiwan and creating
an independent state. This was inconceivable. The Chinese people would
never agree to such an idea and those who held it should be told so.

It was hoped that the Secretary-General would be able to understand
the position of the Chinese Government which supported the purposes and
principles of the United N'Jtions but was against any iaeas violating any of
these purposes or principles. Any step which was genuinely for the purpose
of easing international tension had the full approval of the Chinese
Government which was prepared to take similar steps. On t he basis of the

five principles for peaceful coexistence established by China, India and
Burma as a basis for their relations, the Chinese Government was willing

to establish such relations with any cOtL.'1try, "rithout exception, which so
desired. The Chinese Government firr:lly desired peace but under no c L ~

cmnstances would it settle for peace at the cost of its territory and
sovereignty. It was a::ainst war but 1;-lould never be intimidated by war
threats. This had been proved in the past and would be evidenced in the

future. The promises made by the Chinese would be fulfilled and the
policies that had been followed would be maintained.

Uefore adjourning the Secretary-General made a brief reply. He

said that he appreciated the full and frank exposition of the Chinese
attitude but had to state that considerable differences of views existed.
Especially, he w ~ n t e d to stress that the points brought out by l ~ . Chou

En-lai had in no 1,-fay shaken the conviction concerning the innocence of
the eleven fliers which he had formed on the basis of his independent

stUdy of the material. He would in the next day's meeting explain to
Mr. Chou En-lai 1,-my he found the points made by the Chinese representatives
inconclusive or for other reasons unacceptable.
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T H I R D MJ:,; E TIN G

8 January 1955 - 3-8.10 p.m.

The meeting began by the following statement by the decretary­
General:

IIAs to my general view of what the Secretary-General can do ­
and how he can act - I tried to make that clear yesterday: he must,
independently of the governments, form his own opinion as to what best
serves the cause of peace and act on that basis without jeopardizing
the position of his office by permitting himself to be drawn into open
conflicts where a broad opinion might misinterpret his intentions.

"I have given much thought to your statement. I cannot cover the
very broad ground that you covered. Nor, certainly, do you expect
me to do so. I will later, in the case of the eleven, give you in
detail the reasons why your five basic points have in no way changed
my conviction. I will also later say a few words about a couple of the
political points you raised which are of such a nature that you may eN­

pect me to take a special interest in them as Secretary-General. Before
I bring up any of these points I would like to give you in very general
terms my reaction to what you said concerning the political tensions.

III feel that I have to go one step behind your presentation.
The developments which you talked about form part, but only one part,
of the cold war, and you described them as viewed from your angle
in the light of your concerns and political ambitions. You said the
other day that the Secretary-General should not look at part of the
facts but take into account all facts, looking at the situation in its
entirety.. That is what I will try to do.
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i:-,any of the words that you used with such deep conviction in de­
scribing your fear of aggression I have heard used in other countries
concern:Ing you o You rnay seem to h a v e ~ u b 6 t a l ' r e i V ' e reasons for your fear,
out so have others fort.heirs. In fact, you fea.!' of the other side is
fully matched by their fear of Y 0 1 ~ side. Ideologically you fear the
development of IlAIneric"tn inrrerialisrn ll

• '1'he others, in the same lVd.y, I' e­
ferrin:3 to \,;ommunist ideolovY, (e:,r your urge for Hworld revolution ll

or tlworld d o ~ i n a t l o n l \ .

"ThUS, We have r'UIl into what I would call a tragedy of errors, in
a most serious form reflecting the situation in that little Pekine
onera which we se::.''/ yesterday niisht where two men were fighting each
other in the aark, each of them oelieving that he had t>een threatened
by the other man.

~ T h e deadlock of this tragedy of errors must be broken. That is
the very essence of the prOblem of international tensions. And in
order to break it, somebody must begin, somewhereo NObody can ex-
cuse hi'1lself by saying th;Lt the other one should take the first step,
nor can anybody excuse h:L'1lself from making a modest contribution be­
cause it does not really concern the main proulems. By gradual steps
of an admittedly modest nature the general atmosphere can be improved
and the deadlock broken so that the ground is prepared for a solution
ot: major proble:-ns. If those com erned reel that they must first solve,
for example, the German prool'om or the Taiwan proolem, oefore tackling
all the less :L:nportant points, we will never got B...Y 1Y'..n1ere. tie must
start where something can be done ~ in the right direction, and hope
that by such steps we will lay the basis for greater achievements.

liThe story as you told it yesterday, is, as I said, one aspect of
one part of the cold \-rar, with the lights and shadows determined by
your fears and y O \ ~ political interests. Looked at from another angle,
the picture changes from black to white. There are a few points where
my reactions a re at least similar to yours. There are other points ­
and they are many - \I"her,; I deeply disagree with your interpretation
of facts. In ITg case the d i f f e r ~ n c e s of views is e A ~ l a : i . n e d , not by
a difference of interests, but by the fact that I have different in­
fon-nation as a background for my jUdgments.

"Ilowevel', it is futile to reVirite hi,;;tory which He are, both of us
still responsible for making and on \mich neither you nor I can claim
to have a del'inite perspective. v ~ e , both of us, unavoidably, interpret
happenings in terms of interests ana ideologies. I cannot claim tm be
free in my jUdgments, but I do claim that I conscientiously try to give
the different interests and the different ideologies vJhat is their due
in an interpretation of political action.
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1I11ut here and now, it is not why this or that happened, or why
this or that was dore that should engage our time. My interest is
directed to the question what cran we do now and how can we act in
order to improve international relations.

IIYou ta~ked yesterday about intentions and acts and you argued
from acts to ~ t e n t i o n s . I feel that you are moving on very aangerous
ground, indeed, if you believe that acts, motivated for special reasons,
can be used as a basis for judgment concerning longTterm intentions.
Neither on your side nor on the other side do I feel that such an
approach renders full justice to the situation. Let me bring up only
one concrete example to show what I meano

"The case I have in mind relates to your attitude to the U::'>-Chiang
treaty. I believe you when you tell me that you wish peace. I believe
that this reflects your basic longfttenn intention. But I note your
attitude on the Taiwan question. I have seen you act on the basis
of that very attitude and you have told me that you intend to continue.
Your acts and your attitude, given the situation as it is, do, however,
seriously add to present tensions and may well be said to indicate in­
tentions which are far from peaceful. You cannot say that that is un­
true, because the situation has been created by others and your atti­
tude represents but a just reaction. In a complicated interplay between
causes and effects nobody can in that way lift the responsibility fram
his own shoulders by putting it on the shoulders of the others. It is
politically and morally unjustified. It is like saying that if a brick
falls down and hits a man who walks in the street, the man is respon­
sible because he was there wl1en the brick fell down.

"Mother point. You have complained of the contradictory attitudes
taken by the United Nations. You have said that in many cases the
United Nations majority has not reacted in defence of the principles
of the Charter, while in the case of the eleven, the United Nations
"timidly followed II the United States' wishes and helped to Ucreate an
uproar tl in order to draw attention from the Chiang treaty. I agree
that the United Nations has not always taken action in the way in which
I, for one, consider that the Organization should have done. I also
agree that the United Nations has not been consistent. But from those ad­
missions it is a far step.,- indeed, to accepting your complaint of the
reaction in the case of the eleven. Are you justified in roboing a
man of the tribute due to him when he acts as he should, because in
other cases a man has slluled? No, that is not so. You have misunder­
stood the situation of the United Nations. The strong majority in
the case of the eleven was not one cooked up under United States
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leadership. It did not mean that the Assembly Iltimidly followed ll
• I

!mow the psychological situation. The reaction was a strong and honest
one, shared ~ i t h deep conviction by that great majority \1hich stood be­
hind the resolution. This reaction is explained also by the fact that
the governments felt a special responsibility for these men as -- and
that is a view that you !mow that I share -- they were serving the Or­
ganization, in a cause endorsed by the Organization. You may ever so
much disapprove of the operation in which they were engaged; for those
in the Organization, or for me, there is no hesit.ation on this point.

liAs I promised at the end of our meeting yesterday, I and my
colleagues have studied your exposition of the case of the 11 men
from the B 29 aircraft with great attention. After careful considera­
tion of the five basic points which you made, we still find nothing
to shake the conviction which we ourselves have arrived at, on a gene­
ral view of all the facts, that the 11 men were engaged on a lawful mi­
litary operation in the Korean war when they were shot down and captured.
You and I are in full agreement that this case is not to be discussed
between us in the spirit of a legal debate, but I feel that I owe it to
you to explain briefly why your five basic points do not change my in­
~ e r p r e t a t i o n and appreciation of the total facts.

"::lour first point was that there is a certain parallelism between
the case of the eleven men and the case of Downey and .1"ecteau which
in some way links them together. This parallelism consists, you say,
in the facts that (1) the eleven men and the 58lst air Resupply and
Communications ,'ling to which they belonged were, like Downey and Fec­
teau, working for the United ::>tates Central Intelligence Agency when
they were shot down and (2) the eleven men, like Downey and fecteau,
were captured when intrUding into Antung Province. As to the 58lt:it
Air Wing I have material and positive proof that at the period in ques­
tion this Wing had been assigned to United N;,tions Military operations
in the Korean Conflict and was under United Nations cormnand. As to
the capture of the eleven men in the same Province as Downey and Fecteau,
this is completely inconclusive as evidence that the eleven men were not
lllIlgaged in a lavlful operation in the Korean Conflict. After all, An­
tung Province is immediately adjacent to North Korea in mlich there
was in progress at the time a major war involving constant air ope­
rations by the United Nations. There is nothing surprising or sinister
in the fact that a particular United Nations aircraft attacked in the
far nobth of Korea should have been forced down into Antung Province,
if such was in fact what happened to the eleven men.
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"Your second point was thd.t the eleven men, like Downey and
Fecteau, intruded into Chinese territory for espionage purposes.
But, as I have already said, the fact that the eleven men crashed
into Chinese territory, is in the circumstances of the present
case inconclusive as to the eleven men having been engaged or not
having beenrengaged on United Nations military operations.

"Your third point was that the B 29 Aircraft was found to con­
tain a URC 4 type portable transmitter and receiver for use on land
and that this proved an intention to indulge in espionage, just as
the special pick-up equipment proved it in the case of Downey and

Fecteau. From my own personal experience I can give you the most
complete assurance that this type of portable radio is part of the
standard survival equipment carried by large American aircraft. I
and my staff, with the exception of Professor Waldock, travelled
from New York to London in one of the large aircraft normally pro­
vided by the United jtates Air ~ o r c e for official passengers. To
satisfy my own curiosity I made a personal investigation of the
survival equipment carried by the aircraft and found that there
were included in the emergency kit not one but several URC 4 type
portable radios -- enough indeed to give one to each of US o

This lavish standard of survival equipment, as I said at our first
formal meeting, is normal for all large American military aircraft.
You will ther efore understand why I find the discovery of a URC 4
type radio on the B 29 aircraft inconclusive as evidence of espio­
nage activities by its crew.

lIYour fourth point was that, according to your statistics,
there have been very large nurrlbers of American intrusions into
Chinese air space and a substantial number of dropping operations
for espionage. It would not be appropriate for me to deal in de­
tail wi.th the figures of intrusions and dropping operations vmich
you gave, though my information leads me to suppose that they
might not be everywhere accepted. but I must emphasize that gene­
ral statistics of the kind which you gave are of a very limited re­
levance in considering the case of the eleven men. It is a general
principle of law that individuals are answerable only for offences in
which they have themselves participated and for which they are them­
selves responsible. Indeed, in the int,ernational law relating to
espionage in time of war, the principle of individual responsibility
is carried to such lengths that a spy who completes a spying opera­
tion and then returns within his own lines cannot afterwards be
criminally charged for anything done in the course of the completed
operation. Espionage under international law is thus an offence
which is strictly confined to the particular operation in which
the spying is alleged to have taken place. I do not disguise from
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you may fear that in the present case Chinese apprehensions, whether
well or ill founded, concerning United States activities, may have
prevented the case of the eleven men from being appreciated and judged
completely ¥1 isolation. I am still myself convinced -- and so are,
without reserve, my col1eagues - that, looking only at the evi-
dence relating to 'the acts of these men, they were genuinely engaged
in a lawful military operation of the United Nations Command in the
Korean Conflict.

UYour fifth point was that the eleven men wore United States uni­
form and used the existence of th e Korean war merely as cover for
espionage in China. But, here again, your point seans to be com­
pletely inconclusive as to the eleven men not having been engaged on
a lawful military operation of the Korean Conflict. United States
airmen engaged in the Korean Conflict under United Ni'.tions command
would necessarily wear United States uniforms. It may oe true, as
you said, that their wearing uniforms does not p r o ~ that they were
under UN conunand, but, on the other hand, there would indeed by the
gravest risk of injustice if the fact that Arnold and his men wore
United States uniforms were to be considered in any way evidence of
their being engaged in some kind of espionage activity for the US.
I may add that much might be said on the legal aspects of treating
men in uniform as spies in the circumstances of the present case.
But I do not wish to enter into legal debates on such questions. My
purpose is simply to explain why it is I find this point so incon­
clusive as evidence that the eleven men were not engaged in a lawful
military operation of the United Nations Conunand in the Korean Connie t.

"I now turn to those special political questions on which you may
expect me to speak in more concrete terms. The two questions I have
in mind are the question of representation of the People's liepublic
of China and the question of the,Chinese students in the United States.

liAS to the question of representation you know from public state­
ments what is my attitude. I have said pUblicly that I consider the
Organization as based on the principle of universality and, it being
so, I consider it a weakness and an anomaly that this people, one
fourth of mankind, is not represented in our work. You said yourself,
with some bitterness, that you believed that the problem could not be
solved for some time yet. Let me only say, that I consider this
appraisal of yours as realistic.
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liAs conce,'ns the Chinese students in the United States, it is true­
as you said, tlw.t there is a letter from a group among them to the Sec­
retary-Gensral. I will, on my return, take up that letter and try to
reach a decision on the merits of the case as to what action I may
take. I do that in a humanitarian snirit. I don't !mow how I can act
and what I c~ do, but I can assure you that if I find it justified
and if I see my way as to how the problem may be tackled, I will not
hesitate.

liThe statistics you brouGht out do not confirm my view of the si­
tuation as based on statistics available to me. We agree that origi­
nally some 5.000 were in the United States but only somewhat more
than ~ · h a v e wished to return and out of that munber the vast majority
has returned. After the latest canvassing it seems that only 35 are
waiting for a decision concerning their request for exit permits. If
I remember the situation correctly, t':1ose signinG the request to me
were even less numerous. But on that point I would not like to COIl1!'lit
myself.

"l-lay I add that I have never had in mind any deal, any exchange of
the prisoners and the students. But that is not because I consider
one criminal and the other as innocent. To me they are both innocent.
It is because I consider that such a deal, involving two enti-ely
unrelated questions, would be lElow the dignity both of the two
governments and of the Organization I represent.

"I now come to my concluding remarks. So far, I have not asked
you for anything. H01tleVer, there are two requests or suggestions
which I would like to make.

"You have, yourself, stressed the importance of the human interest
involved in all these questions of imprisonment or detention. You
have restated the principles for your treatment of the various cases
as presented by you in Geneva. You have said that you are going to
implement the principles you explained to the US representatives there
faithfully and completely. May I ask you that in pursuing the policy
as you explained it in Geneva, you will do what you can to see to it that
procedures are to all possible extent speeded up so as to shorten the
time of detention or uncertainty for all concerned.

liMy second suggestion is also made in a humanitarian spirit. Could
you see your wy to giving me, before my return, information concerning
the health condition of the prisoners and all similar information of
importance to their families. I !mow what such information might mean.
I will tell you how much importance I attach to it also personally.1I
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After this statement by the Secretary-General, Mr. Chou En-lai
said that he would like to present his views following the same order
as the Secretary-General.

According to notes taken Mr. Chou En-lai I s statement ran as follows:
,

"I agree 'that in these talks of ours the purpose should be to ex­
plore and to seek some common viewpoints, if possible even understanding.
As had also been agreed, nobody would be camnitted by the talks.

"We regret that there are few point s where we see eye to eye and
relatively more where we differ. Despite this, it is my hope that we
should be able to look at things objectively and to reach a wider under­
standing.

"We should not place ourselves in opposite positions or try to
IIprove" something. Only thus this contact between the Secretary-General
and representatives of the People's Republic of China may be helpful.
It would then be a beginning, not an end. II

The Secretary-General said that he subscribed to what had just been
said.

Mr. Chou .H(}....lai continuedl

"You mentioned that our criticism of certain developments invol­
ving the United States and China formed part of the cold war. I cannot
agree to this. Even less can I agree that words used by us concerning
other countries could be used by them in describing us because we base
our statements on facts. Taiwan, for instance, was placed under US
protection but we have not placed Honolulu tmder our protection. So
how could a parallel be drawn?

"You also mentioned that each side equally feared the other. The
"fears under the respective ideologies" are not the same. We do not ob­
ject to something merely because it is US action. If the actions
by the United States were to be to\>.:the benefit of peace we would not
object because of the fact that these actions emanated from the United
States. 'lbis was proved by our attitude to the Korean Armistice and at
the Geneva Conference. 'lie welcomed the armistice agreement and we recog­
nized the United States in Geneva, whereas they did not recognize us.
Our actions have been t a ~ with a view to relaxing tensions, whereas the
United States has taken an attitude of negating everything we do: the USA
interprets all China's actions as undertaken for the purpose of expansion.
This interpretation is contrary to our intentions.
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"We are judging the United States by their acts. Their action in
ending hostilities in Korea, for instance, was for peace, whereas their
conclusion of a treaty with Chiang Kai-shek serves to increase tension.
We do not deduce intentions from other peoples' general conduct, but base
our opinion. on such actions as clearly show the underlying policy. Thus,
we determine whether the actions are peaceful or aggressive. In the US­
Chiang treaty, for. instance, the area of application can be expanded any
time to include the coastal islands and even the mainland. We are asked
to tolerate the US occupation of Taiwan; but tomorrow we can expect an
expansion of this occupation. Tomorrow, at his pleasure, Chiang may
attack us. How could we tolerate this? Is this justice, Mr" Secretary­
General? Isn't it like the case where a robber, as it were, would occupy
parts of this room, which cannot be touched because we are told to tolera­
te this even if an expansion of the occupation CQuld be made, as in the
case of the treaty. What would you say if Sweden were to find itself in

174 ~. kt,;lit4' such a situation1Z We don t t guess or take out of thin air the motives 0 f
--it. . .,,.{ other people. This is the whole story with regard to the US-Chiang

• ::~ c: treaty. 'lbe Chinese people are fully entitled to liberate Taiwan and to
.- drive out Chiang Kai-shek, who has already been forsaken by the people.

This is said to be war-like acts, but the United States has occupied
Taiwan. Under US protection Chiang can occupy coastal islands and de­
tain ships in the straits. But these acts are not called war-like. Yet,
they may expand any time. The United States is stepping up Chiang's
army so as to be able to attack the mainland. These acts show the
United States motives. We are not talking abstractly in this matter.

"How could this be said to be like the man who is held responsible
because he was walking in the street, when a brick fell down on him. It
seems rather to be like a man entering a house to attack and the occupant
being prohibited from taking any counter-action. Attacks have, in fact"
already taken place.

IIIf we should enter into a debate of the Taiwan situation, the Chinese
people would not consider you i3partial but as a defender of the United
States whose acts have aroused the strongest indignation of the Chinese
people.

"You are quite right in saying that history cannot be rewritten. As
to the Chiang-US treaty history will draw its own conclusions" I would like
to add that history is written by the peoples themselves so in the final
analysis the peoples will judge whether China or the United States committed
aggression. I hope that you will listen to the voice of the people.

"To stun up: ever since the signing of the treaty; the United States
has been increasing tenrlon in the far East. As long aw Chiang is under
American protection and receives American support the war against our
coasts and the detention of ships will continue. The Chinese people are
not afraid of war threats. This is the foremost question in Asia and
China. To tolerate this situation would be the same as having tole­
rated the Japanese aggression in Northeast China in 1931 which was the

first spark to WOrld War II" I beg you to consider this as an important

fact in your appraisal of the world situation."
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At this point the Secretary-General intervened. He wished to
point out that he had been misunderstood in Mr. Chou En-lails reference
to his statement concerning the Cold War. The Secretary-General had
referred not to Mr. Chou En-lai's presentation as such, but to the facts
to which reference had been mad e by Mr. Chou Bh-lai and the light
in which the,se facts had been presented.. Nor had he said that the reactions
on the two Sides were determined by ideological considerations.

The Secretary-General further wanted to m ~ e it clear that just as
he did not represent any country, he did not speak against any country
either. If and when he had any criticism against the policy of any govern­
ment to which he wanted to give expression, he would do so to the government
concerned. Thus he neither could nor would engage with Mr. Chou Eh-lai
in a discussion of the policy of other governments ..

He added that he had listened with the greatest attention to the
views expressed by Mr. Chou &-lai, of 'Iohich he obviously wanted to take
note because of the importance those views had as part of the general
picture on which the SecrettFy-General had to base his judgment.

Mr. Chou En-lai continued:

liAs I said a little while ago, the Chinese people have no fears.
What they regard as correct, such as truth and the struggle for peace,
they would do their utmost to uphold" What they consider not rightful,
such as war or aggression, they would definitely resist ..

II With regard to the question of United Nations and China, it was
obvious that during the last five years, the United Nations had been
unjust. This, even you could not completely deny. To give two out­
standing examples: at the same time as the outbreak of the Korean war
the United States had occupied Taiwan. On this question, the United
Nations had been silent. On the other hand, when China had assisted
Korea, the United Nations had condemned that action.

"A second example was that over fourteen thousand Chinese had been
forcibly sent against their will from Korea to Taiwan in vio*ation of
the Armistice Agreement, which had caused continued objections i.a.
in the Indian Press. In this case again, the United Nations had been
silent. B ut when the Chinese tribunals convicted the US airmen as
spies the United Nations condemned China and created an uproar.
This shows that the United Nations haS become a tool of US aggression.
These are indisputable facts on which we base ourselves. It is on this
stand that the majority of the United Nations show Wlanimity, but this
unanimity is not for the benefit of peace but serves, in co-operation
with the United States, to increase tension.
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IIAn even more important question is that China is deprived of her
right and status in the United Nations. It was in an objective way that
I had said that this state of affairs was likely to continue, but this
did not mean that China did not find it most unjust. This is the second
point to whi_ch I want to call your attention.

liAS regards toe legal questions, we have agreed not to enter into
any lawyer1 s debate and our purpose therefore only is to clarify certain
facts relevant to these cases. In pointing out some basic facts we have
a two-fold purpose, namely first to show the basis 0 f the judgilents of the
Chinese courts and second to reject the eight points made by you.

"We have different ways of looking at these cases. You base your
conclusions on superficial elements presented by the U n i t e ~ States
whereas we base our conclusions on the essence of the matter as it
emerges fran the evidence as presented to the courts. The following
are some essential facts:

111) According to material in our possession, the 581st air wing
is a special operations wing with the exclusive task of carrying
out operations for the Central Intelligence Agency, which is
the same authority under which Downey served. This wing
is controlled and used by the Central Intelligence Agency
through the US Air Force. Its main task is to drop agents
into Comrmmist daninated and Communist countries and to
provide these agents with supplies. The wing works under

cover of psychological warfare, such as leaflet operations.
According to our material, the United States has stationed
similar air wings in other parts of the world.. The wing
has seven air supply squadrons consisting of converted
long-range planes. Its special task is to send agents
and supplies to agents. This was exactly the duty of Ar-
nold and his men on his spYing mission. His plane was
specially equipped for airdropping personnel. trom all this
material it can be seen that the B-29 aircraftM Arnold in
intruding in our air spacei4!eI'!l'te:l:t,'operated under the US
Air Force, but in effect worked for the Central Intelligence
Agency, that is the same agency that directed Downey. In view
of the essence of the q u e s t i o n ~ h eelliwt Oii mere !bfIIl11! b1omtd.s
.d.8fend: bile pet 3otl" eoneeIned: aga:i:I"13t tfte aetiens t.aken.

When Arnold I s aircraft was shot do"m, this was not done under
circumstances of force majeure. The plane took off from Yukota,
passed over Korea and \"ias brought down at Antung. The plane had
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two rada.r observers instead of' the norma,l one in order to
direct the flight, and the entry into our air space by
mistake is therefore excluded. The plane also had a check
pilot, Baumer, who was equally cone erned with the task of
directing the flight. ~ o here is another proof of the inten­
tion,. of the air craft to enter into Chinese air srace for the
purpose of engaging in espionage operations.

"Downey 1 s aircl'J.ft was brought down at Antung. As to the exact
location Vie have eye witnesses and also matErial evidence remaining
on the spoto

II:)) On Arnold's aircraft one person, Benjamin, was in charge of
parachutes. The presence of this man in the crew is unusual
for a B-29. Benjamin had received special training at Fort
}jenning, Georgia, which was the same special kind of training
as that given Downey and Fecteau. This fact proves that the
persons involved in the two cases received the same tra:ining
from the same institution.

"4) As regards the radio set, it has super-high frequency with a
rather short range for use especially on land. The same kind of
radio set had been found with captured air dropped agents in
other pla£es. Therefore, it cannot be said that the fact that
military passenger planes are equipped with such radio sets

excluded the use of such sets for espionage activities. We have
here the same situation as for instance with regard to parachutes:
they could be used in connexion with the conduct of Korean war
operations but also for air dropping of agents.

115) With regard to the question of uniforms, it is of course true that
the personnel participating in the Korean war operations had

uniforms although this was not the case with all. Military
reconnaissance personnel on the ground sometimes were in civilian
clothes. we caught sane such persons in Panmunjom. If Arnold
used a military plane, why should not he and his crew also
use military unifonIls to cover up their espionage operation? The
fact that they wore uniforms cannot be said to be any proof of non­
espionage. If Downey, who has been proven to have engaged in es­
pionage, was in uniform, why could not Arnold and his men have been?

116) You mentioned our point 4 of yesterday with regard to the number of
times of US intrusions into our air space. If you ever think that
this was used as a basis of the conviction of Arnold, you are
wrong. We only said yesterday that one aircraft took off from
Seoul and one from Yukota. We only mentioned the intrusions as
examples of t he general picture. 'The basis tor the convictions
was instead the special nature of the air wing, the radio set,
the special personnel, etc.
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"7) You mentioned the routine report made at the time on the loss
of Arnold! s aircraft. But you failed to note what I had said,
nainely that immediately after the intrusion the Chinese Goverrunent
on 21 January 1953 had made protests against this intrusion. Later,
after the Korean Armistice Agreement and at the repatriation we
found among the prisoners none of the Arnold type.

"At Geneva we got a list of military personnel from the US represen­
tatives. The Chinese representatives on that occasion acknowledged that
Arnold and his men were in China under investigation. The US represerr­
tatives did not mention these men as prisoners of war, nor did they object
to the fact that they were under investigation in China. This proves
that Arnold and his men were not considered as prisoners of war from the
Korean war. The United Nations, therefore, has no right to deal with
these cases and to create an uproar.

"You come from the United States, and it is therefore natural
that you should have based your presentation on US material. In fact, what
you have brought forward has seemed to us not to differ fran the state­
ments made by the US Delegation. We have presented new material, partly
emanating from the persons themselves, which is reliable. We hope that
our material has had your attention. If so, your trip has not been
fruitless, since you have been given a chance to hear the true facts and
not only those of one side.

"We cannot agree that Arnold and his men were prisoners of war fran
Korea or that they are irmocent. They, as well as Downey and Fecteau,
carmnitted the offence of intruding into China and of espionage.

"We are grateful to you for your concern as regaess the requests to
you from irmocent Chinese students wanting to return to their fatherland.
They number many more than thirty-five. We believe that all of them will
continue to bring their cases to the United Nations and the Secretary-Ge­
neral.

"I should now like to give my answers to your requests and suggestions:

1) The Chinese Goverrunent will act on the basis of the policy
announced in Geneva to the United States with regard to all
persons detained in China. This applies not only to those­
c o n ~ i c t e d , but also to those under investigation.

2) We would be very glad to supply you with the information
requested concerning the prisoners' health and also to give
you photos of them in order to comfort the families.
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"We would like to make an additional suggestion: if the families
would want to come to China to visit these persons, the Chinese. Government
would be glad to give every assistance for this purpose. The Chinese Red
Cross would be charged with the duty of arranging the trip and of receiving
the members of the families. The Red Cross has all the time helped in
transmitting, letters and packages to the persons concerned."

After having expressed his gratitude for the replies just received,
the Secretary-General stressed again that his statne nts were in no way
an echo of views expressed in the General Assembly or from the United
States. lbey reflected the results of a completely independent study
which had taken into account not only the material presented by the
American authorities- which was of the nature of evidence normally
presented to courts -- but also the information given from the Chinese
side, in print and now in the course of the discussions. He thus
claimed for the convictions to which he ahd his colleagues had come, the
impartiality of a study based on lli available material. The Secretary­
General continued:

IIUnder seven points you have brought out new arguments in favour
of your views conc erning the nature of the mission of the fliers.
I feel that, if I were to reply in any detail to \'bat you have said,
We would get just into that kind of lawyers I debate which we both want
to avoid. For that reason I wi~l limit myself to a few observations
and give you my reply now at once so as to conclude our debate.

"In your first point you referred again to what you considered to
be the special character of the 2Blst Air Wing. Referring to the
"essence of the matter" you seemed to wish to base your conclusions
concerning the eleven on the views you hold on the character of the
Wing. On this point I wish to refer again to my statement earlier today
where I have stated in clear terms how I look at the Wing. I wish, also,
to draw your attention especially to what I said in my statement concerning
the fact that a man can never be jUdged for anything but his own immediate
action. From that it follows that whatever the character of the Wing,
it is inconclusive for the judgment on the guilt or innocence of the eleven.

IIIn points 2 and 3 you mention three members of the crew who were in
excess of the normal manning of a B 29. You are right that the extra
radar operatlbr and the check pilot as well as possibly Mr. Benjamin,
were added to the normal cres. Before bringing this matter up, I inves­
tigated the reason for their presence. Again the explanation is a
simple one and the fact to which you refer, inconclusive. Colonel Arnold
and other members of the creWlEre flying over this territory for the
first time, and for that reason felt that Baumer and the two others with
previous experience should accompany them on this flight in order so
to say, to brief them, I repeat that under these circumstances their
presence in the plane does not show· what you wished to indicate.
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liAs to your point 4 concerning the radio, yOu may be right that the
URC 4 radio may also be used by spies, but the fact I have mentioned
clearly d a m o n s t r a t ~ s that even if that be so, the presence of a URC 4
radio does in no way support your contention that the mission of the
B 29 was intrusion for espionage purposes.

IIYou referred again to the question of uniforms. I can only repeat
what I have fsaid in my previous statement that the crew being in uni­
form most definitely does not support your case, although on the other
hand, admittedly, it does not prove that the men were on a UN mission.
The uniforms as evidence are inconclusive.

llSumming up what I have said so far it is, thus, obvious that
neither the compositbn of the crew nor the presence of the radio nor
the uniforms, are c o n ~ l u s i v e evidence in your favour.

III note with satisfaction your observation concerning the statistics
as they show that you agree with me that no man should be punished for
anything but for what he is personally responsible.

liAs to your final observations concerning the report of the loss of:
the plane, I have nothing to add to my previous statement, that the rou­
tine casualty report is evidence of the character of the mission. lI

In reply Mr. Chou Eh-lai said:

lilt seems clear that if we continue to argue the spy cases we would
not reach any cammon conclusion. Although you have said that you were not
representing the majority of the United Nations nor discussing the
Assembly resolution, it is natural, and you cannot help it, that you are
influenced by the United States, as it is their material that you have.
We have our own material evidence and also confessions, on which basis
the courts founded their just jUdgment. we have based our conclusions
mainly on the activities of the 58lst Air Wing but also on other evidence,
proving the espionage committed by Arnold and his men. As to the other
aircraft -- the four jet planes -- these pilots have not yet been con­
victed, although they have admitted that they intruded into our air
space. This proves that the convictions have not been made just because
other aircraft intruded into China. I hope that you will bear these
facts in mind when considering this question.
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The Secretary-General replied: "I guess you may be right in saying
that we cannot here and now arrive at conunon conclusions as to the facts.
However, I feel that in the course of these discussions we have built up
a mutual reppect which makes us trust that the other party will reach its
final conclusion in a spirit of justice and fairness - before his own
conscience! ",

To this last observation ¥ ~ . Chou En-Iai replied that he accepted
what the Secretary-General had said but that he wanted to add that he
hoped that the discussions would not be so treated as to grow into a new
source of friction o
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F 0 U R T H M ~ E TIN G

LO January 1955 - 4-5.20 p.m.

The Secretary-General said that, as this was to be the last
meeting, he ~ n t e d to thank the Chinese hosts and Mr. Chou En-Iai for
what had been done in order to make the visit to Peking both useful and
pleasant. He felt sure that tne personal contacts established would
have justified the visit even if nothing else had come out of it.

After having expressed his gratitude for these words, Mr. Chou Eh­
lai continued:

"In this last talk I would like to reiterate some statements already
made in order to make our position clear. You have come to tell us your
understanding of the situation which has been useful to us. We knew
something before but now we know more.

"Since the situation in China, the voice of the Chinese people and
the intentions of the Chinese Goverrunent are not so easily accessible
to you as Secretary-General, our views should be worthy of your cons­
deration and attention. It is our hope that you will be able, at times
which you consider appropriate, to tell those countries concerned, although
not friendly towards us, especially the United States, about China, our
views and our position.

"In our opinion the uproar created in the United States is completely
unwarranted. As I have already stated, we have ever since Geneva taken
steps to bring relations closer. The United States, by bringing the question
of the convicted airmen to the United Nations and by engineering the
Assembly resolution, which we oppose, has created difficulties and has not
contributed to a solution. If the US Government should want to continue
the uproar on this question without justification, the Chinese people will
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not be intimidated and will take no step to change its position.
With regard to the just measures of exercising our sovereign rights, no
interference from the United States or the United Nations can be tole­
rated.

IIWhat the United Nations should go into and rectify are quite a
few things .as pre:viously mentioned, for instance the Question of the
Chinese students in the United States, the question of Taiwan, and the
status and rights. of China in the United Nations. Ji.'very one of these
situations should be considered by the United Nations since they are all
based on injustice.

IIWe, on our part, can assure you that we will firmly adhere to the
five principles for peaceful co-existence contained in the joint state­
ment by China, Burma and India. By practical steps, we will prove that
these intentions are taken seriously. If possible, we hope that you
will tell the American people that the Chinese people are friendly to.­
wards them. This can be proved by our willingness to provide facilities
for the families to visit the American personnel concerned. If the US
Government were to give up its p(;jlicy of aggression and war against China,
we are firmly convinced that China and the United States would be able
not only to co-exist peacefully but also to co-operate in a friendly way.

II We welcome you on this visit to China and to these talks, and we
would like to express our admiration and respect for the expressions
you have given to your intentions to fight for the purpose and principles
of the United Nations as its Secretary-General. For the reasons already
given and the fact that we want to continue our efforts toward. a relaxatioh
of tensions, we have voiced the hope that the contact with you personally
and as Secretary-General would continue. We have both the wish to maintain
this contact in the future in the interest of world peace, in accordance
with the purposes and principles of the United Nations. We understand
very well that after you leave China you will face some difficulties,
but we believe that with the spirit you have manifested and your prestige
as an individual and as Secretary-General, you will promote peace. II

The Secretary-General then made a concluding statement along the
following lines:

He appreciated Mr. Chou ):;n-lai I s expressions of trust in him. When
Mr. Chou En-lai aad said that he hoped that the Secretary-General would find
it possible to explain to the other peoples in an objective way the problems
and viewpoints of the Chinese people, he had only indicated what was under
all circumstances the duty of the Secretary-General; it was obvious that
the Secretary-General in his office was obliged to present the problems
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and viewpoints of all peoples as objectively as he could in the light
of his knowledge. Thus the Secretary-General would at all events have
continued his efforts to present also the viewpoint of the Chinese
people objectively. However, in one respect the discussions would help
him. It was obvious that they had added much to his first-hand k n o ~ v l e d g e

and thus would make it easier for him to give an objective interpretation.

On this~ point the Secretary-General wanted IIbluntly and franklyll to
point out to loIr o Chou En-lai that what the Secretary-General might
say about China on the basis of his widened knowledge obviously would
carry very much more vleight if the Chinese Government saw its wa? to •
meet hlill and accept his v i ~ ~ ) o i n t s in the prisoner question; he felt
that it would do so Tdithout disawovins its O'l'm legal conclusions or by­
passin!: the sovereignty of the Chinese court:). He noted tha Hr. Chou
Fn-lai in the course of the discussions had reaffirme(l the statements
from Geneva concerning the traditional ChineGe policy of "leniencyll and
early release.

In reply to this sta.tement at the end of the Secretary-GeneralIs
declaration, Er. Chou l!:n-lai said that as regards the spy cases, the
Chinese courts had reached their conclusions lion the basis of legal
considerations ll exercising their sovereign right. '1'he political re­
lations between the United States and China were another mattero ~ ~ .

Chou En-Iai felt convinced that the Sec'retary-General, "in an objective
wayll would find it il,ossible to keep those two aspects of the matter apart.

As to the question about the offer to American families to visit
relatives in China, V ~ o Chou En-Iai indicated that this offer applied to
the seventeen (13 + 4) L~pri30ned persons listed as military personnel
plus Downey and Fecteau p In this connexion he added that, since the four
jet pilots were not in Peking but in North East China, the health reports
and photos cone eming them could not be included in the material concerning
the other thirteen persons which was now ready for the Secretary-General,
but would be sent by air mail directly or through the Swedish Flnbassy
as soon as possible,

The remaining 51 Americans (out of the total of 66) were not in
prison and some of them had already been granted exit permits. Any
need for visits to them by relatives did, therefore, not appear to exist.
However, if in any case such a visit should seem required, the matter could
be dealt with between the Chinese and American Consuls General at Geneva"

The text of tlje joint connnunique, which had been prepared in advance
of the meeting, was thereafter agreed to without discussion.
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